
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

#plymreview 

SCRUTINY - COOPERATIVE SCRUTINY REVIEWS 

COUNCIL TAX (ATTACHMENT OF EARNINGS) 
 
Friday 15 November 2013 
10.00 am 
Council House (Next to the Civic Centre) Plymouth 
 
Members: 
Councillor  James, Chair. 
Councillor Mrs Aspinall, Vice Chair. 
Councillors Bowyer, Casey and Tuffin. 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 
 
Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 Democratic Support 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
Please ask for  Helen Wright 
T 01752 304022 
E helen.wright@plymouth.gov.uk 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
Published 7 November 2013 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
SCRUTINY - COOPERATIVE SCRUTINY REVIEWS 
 
 

PART I - PUBLIC MEETING 
 
AGENDA 
 
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by members. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
  
 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of this agenda. 
  
3. CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS    
  
 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 
  
4. COOPERATIVE REVIEW: COUNCIL TAX (ATTACHMENT 

OF EARNINGS)   
 

  
 The Board will consider the various documentation and information submitted as well as 

hearing from a number of witnesses through the review process – 
  
 4.1. Introduction by the Cabinet Member for Finance (Councillor 

Lowry) and the Assistant Director for Finance, Efficiencies, 
Technology and Assets 

 

   
 4.2. Cooperative Review Request Form (Pages 1 - 2) 
   
 4.3. Cooperative Review Project Plan (Pages 3 - 6) 
   
 4.4. Briefing Report (Pages 7 - 12) 
   
 4.5. Witnesses (Pages 13 - 14) 
   
  • Jo Ryder, Plymouth City Council  

• Paul Dean, Plymouth City Council  
• Steve Meakin, Advice Plymouth 
• Sarah McNeice, Advice Plymouth 

   
5. SUMMARY AND REVIEW    
  
 Members will have an opportunity to review the findings from the cooperative review 

group process. 
  



 

 

6. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph(s)   of Part I Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended by the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

  
PART II - PRIVATE MEETING 
 
AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, Board is entitled to consider certain items in private. Members of the public 
will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed. 
 
NIL. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

REQUEST FOR  A 
COOPERATIVE REVIEW 
 

 
Please submit this document to Democratic Support once complete.  
 
The request will be submitted to the Co-operative Scrutiny Board for consideration against the approval 
criteria and you will be notified of its success. If the Board approve the request for a Co-operative 
Review on the subject matter below then a project plan will be completed and you may be asked for 
further information.  

What is the name of the 
review? 

Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings)  

Please provide a brief 
outline of the subject and 
scope of the review? 

A review is required to assess the financial impact on people in 
employment and those receiving welfare benefits of going into debt in 
order to pay Council Tax arrears and the issuing of a Council Tax 
Attachment of Earnings via a Magistrates’ Liability Order; the review will 
also consider the financial impact on the Council. 
 

Please outline the reasons 
as to why you believe a 
review needs to take 
place? 

The review is required to better understand the financial impact of non-
payment of Council Tax on both residents and the Council. 

What will the review 
attempt to achieve? 

The review will – 

• clarify the financial impact on both working residents and residents 
receiving benefits of the non-payment of Council Tax and the 
issuing of Council Tax Attachment of Earnings Order; 

• look at ways of addressing the negative impact of Council Tax 
arrears; 

• clarify the support that the Council provides and also the voluntary 
sector; 

• clarify the financial impact of non-payment of Council Tax and 
associated legal and administrative costs. 

 

Who will benefit from the 
review? 

Residents, Councillors and the Council. 

How long do you think 
the review might take? 

It is anticipated that the review will take one day. 

When do you think the 
review should commence 
and why? 

The review will be held on 15 November 2013 (the Welfare Reforms will 
have been implanted for six months and will provide sufficient evidence in 
order to undertake the review). 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 4bPage 1



 

 

 
 
 
 

When do you think the 
review should be 
completed by and why? 

The review will be completed by November 2013. 

Review requested by? The Cooperative Scrutiny Board. 

Page 2



 

Version and date  Not protectively marked OR Protect OR Restricted 

CO-OPERATIVE REVIEW PROJECT PLAN 
COUNCIL TAX (ATTACHMENTOF EARNINGS)

 
  
Background 
 
Chair: 
 

Councillor James 
 

Lead Officer: 
 

Giles Perritt (Head of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships) 
 

Democratic Support Officer: 
 

Helen Wright 
 

Membership: 
 

Councillor James, Chair. 
Councillor Mrs Aspinall, Vice Chair. 
Councillors Bowyer, Casey and Tuffin. 
 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) 

Date review approved by the Co-operative Scrutiny 
Board: 
 

7 August 2013 

Summary of subject  to be 
reviewed: 
 

A review is required to assess the financial impact on people in 
employment and those receiving welfare benefits of going into debt in 
order to pay Council Tax arrears and the issuing of a Council Tax 
Attachment of Earnings via a Magistrates’ Liability Order; the review will 
also consider the financial impact on the Council. 
 

Reason(s) and rationale for the 
review: 
 

This issue has been identified as an area of concern for residents 
and has also received local and national media coverage with the 
introduction of Welfare Reform in April 2013. 
 

Objectives of the review: 
 

To identify the impact on residents and the Council; 
 
To analyse the reasons why people are going into arrears (was this due 
to poor financial management); 
 
To identify the support that the Council provides and also the voluntary 
sector; 
 
To have a better understanding of the process. 
 

What will the review look at? 
 

The review will look at the - 
 

• current process adopted by the Council for Council Tax arrears 
for people in employment and those receiving welfare benefits 
including the Attachment of Earnings; 
 
 

• financial impact of residents going into debt and the impact on 
the Council’s budget; 
 

• support and advice provided by Plymouth City Council and the 

Agenda Item 4cPage 3



 

 

voluntary sector. 
 

Which areas will be excluded 
from the review? 

The broader impact of welfare reform including the implementation of 
Universal Credit and Housing Benefit changes. 
 

What City and Council 
Priorities does the review 
relate to: 
 

The review relates to the following city and council priorities – 
 

• Caring Plymouth 
• Confident Plymouth 

Identify links to other Council 
policies, projects or strategies: 
 

Council Tax billing and collection procedures. 

Who will benefit from the 
review: 
 

Residents, Council, Councillors and partners. 

 
 
Methodology 
 
The method and approach of 
the review: 
 

 It is proposed that one meeting will be required in order to – 
 

• review current procedures 
• talk to witnesses 
• identify areas for improvement 

Witnesses and experts: 
 

Witnesses will include – 
 

• Council Tax Service Manager 
• Court Officer 
• Advice Plymouth 
•  

Co-opted representatives: 
 

Co-opted representative(s) will not be required to attend this review. 

Documents and/or reports for 
analysis e.g. internal/external 
reports or legislation): 
 

• Government guidance and legislation 
• Council’s policy/procedures 
• Financial information 

Site visits: 
 

There will be no requirement to hold site visits. 

Consultations/Research: 
 

No additional research will be required for this review. 

Publicity: 
 

This meeting will be open to members of the public and press to 
attend. 
 

Evaluation method 
 

Update(s) will be provided to the Cooperative Scrutiny Board. 

Resource Requirements: 
 

There are no additional resources required for this review. 

Barriers and Risks: 
 

No barriers or risks have been identified in relation to this review. 

 
Timetable 
 

Page 4



 

 

Activity Timescale / Date(s) Intended Outcome(s) 
Meeting 1: 
 

15 November 2013 To hold the meeting, evaluate the evidence 
provided and formulate recommendations. 

Meeting 2: 
 

n/a  
 

Meeting 3: 
 

n/a  
 

Meeting 4: 
 

n/a  
 

Draft report: 
 

Late November/ 
early December 2013 

 

Meeting 5 (approve report): 
 

December 2013  

Submit report to the Co-operative 
Scrutiny Board Meeting: 
 

  

Submit to Cabinet Meeting: 
 

  

Submit to other 
bodies/organisations: 
 

  

Scrutiny Panel to evaluate and 
track the outcomes of the Co-
operative Review: 

  

 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Version and date  Not protectively marked OR Protect OR Restricted 

COUNCIL TAX 
Attachment of Earnings & Benefits 

15 November 2013

Agenda Item 4dPage 7



 

COUNCIL TAX Page 2 of 5 

1. Purpose of the report:  
 
1.1 To provide The Cooperative Scrutiny Board with an overview of Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) 
and to enable any recommendations for improvement to be made to add value to Council Business and 
decision making. 
 
2. Background: 

2.1 The levels of council tax are set each year at the end of February/beginning of March and are advertised 
in the local media. 
 
2.2.Bills are despatched in March and all residents are given instalments in which to pay their council tax. 
 
2.3 Residents are encouraged to contact the council if they cannot meet their instalments or would like 
them changed to weekly / fortnightly instalments. All reminder letters include full details on the different 
payment options available along with details of various channels of contact. The Plymouth City Council 
(PCC) website contains information on Council Tax Spending, our Recovery Process, Payment Options and 
the services available to residents online. 
 
2.4 In April this year the Government introduced changes to the welfare system which saw 
council’s all over the country reducing the amount of benefits issued to residents. 
 
2.5 The main impact of these changes has affected people of working age that claim housing or 
council tax benefit. Under the new rules 19,280 households in Plymouth have seen a reduction in 
their Council Tax Support (previously Council Tax Benefit) of £4 per week. Changes to Housing 
Benefit, known as “bedroom tax”, have also seen a cut in the support received by residents.  
 
2.6 In April 13, 13,395 residents did not pay their scheduled first month’s instalment compared to 
6,184 April 12, which represents a 116% increase. 5,943 of these customers were paying Council 
tax for the first time. Customers approaching the Council to discuss Council tax arrears face to 
face increased by 49.54% during the first quarter of 13/14. 
 
2.7 We are continuously reviewing and improving our collection methods, and the support that 
we offer to our residents, adopting a more proactive and supporting approach to collection , for 
example introducing weekly instalments and payments over 12 months to enable greater flexibility 
for our residents in recognition of the difficulties they face. 
 
3.  Process for Non-Payment of Council Tax 

3.1 Timeline – 
 

• 14 days overdue - First Reminder;  
• 21 days later - Summons issued.  Insert enclosed to encourage payment/contact at the earliest 

opportunity to avoid recovery action; 
• 21 days later - Court hearing takes place and a liability order is obtained; 
• Once a liability order is obtained an attachment to benefits or earnings can be set up. Bailiff action 

is taken as a last resort; 
 

3.2 Where a resident is in receipt of benefits, or employed and their employment details are held 
an attachment order is made following the court hearing. The amounts that are deducted are set 
by legislation and we are unable to alter these.   
 

Page 8



 

COUNCIL TAX Page 3 of 5 

A request is sent to either the Department of Work and Pensions or the Employer advising of the 
deduction amount (see below) and confirmation of the deduction is sent to the resident. If the 
residents’ source of income is unknown, a notice is sent informing the resident that a liability 
order has been obtained and requesting details of their income. On receipt of this information a 
decision is made on the most appropriate way to recover the arrears.  
 

Net Weekly Earnings Deduction Rate % 

Up to £75.00 0 

Exceeding £75.00 but not £135 3 

Exceeding £135 but not £185 5 

Exceeding £185 but not £225 7 

Exceeding £225 but not £355 12 

Exceeding £355 but not £505 17 

Over £505 17% for the first £505 and then 50% for the 
remainder 

Residents in receipt of Benefits £3.60 deducted per week 
 

3.3 In recognition of the impact of Welfare Reform and the need to support our residents and 
maximise collection the Revenues and Benefits department has adapted its recovery strategy to a 
more proactive and supportive approach.   
 
3.4 Staff are proactive in contacting residents to discuss non-payment. Discussions focus on 
payment options and frequency, payment plans, financial management and signposting to other 
organisations who can help.  Residents’ circumstances are reviewed to ensure that the appropriate 
discounts and benefits are in place. 
 
3.5 Since April 2013 the department has benefited from a RISC scoring IT module which allows 
for the targeting of recovery based on resident Council Tax payment history. For example 
residents who rarely or have never defaulted before will receive a more supportive reminder if 
they miss an instalment, than someone who has a history of defaulting on payments. 
 
3.6 Where is it identified that residents in receipt of benefits are unable to meet their instalments 
and staff have exhausted all other avenues to reduce the Council Tax owed, we have introduced 
an option to provide a lower payment arrangement.  This allows residents to begin to adapt to the 
requirement to pay to ensure residents get into the habit of paying.  These cases are closely 
monitored and residents are advised that arrangements will be monitored at certain points in the 
year and re-negotiated giving them time to manage their incomes and negotiate payments with 
other debtors such as credit cards, loan agreements etc. 
 
3.7 Bailiff action will only be considered as a last resort in order to avoid additional costs.  
However it is important that recovery action is taken for all non-payers to avoid the burden of 
non-collection falling on Council Tax payers. 
   
3.8 In addition to the introduction of 12 monthly instalments, residents are also given the 
opportunity to pay their Council tax on a weekly or fortnightly basis. This allows instalments to be 
better aligned to resident’s income dates.   

 

Page 9



 

COUNCIL TAX Page 4 of 5 

4. The Impact of Council Tax Arrears on both residents and the Council’s Budget 

 
4.1 Council tax is a significant source of our core funding, equating to 1 per cent of our total 
resources available to provide services to the public. When setting the budget we allow for a level 
of non-collection (currently 2.5 per cent) however, if we collect less than budgeted for we would 
have to make difficult decisions to address the issue: 
 
4.2 We could be forced to cut services to the public to make up the shortfall – as council tax does 
not finance specific services this cut could affect any service. As always, we would try to limit the 
impact on front line services but taking into account the already difficult financial position caused 
by the unprecedented level of government cuts it is possible that front line services could suffer. 
 
4.3 We may need to increase the level of council tax we charge to residents in the following year 
to cover the shortfall caused by the higher level of non-collection. 
 
4.4 In practice the impact is likely to be a combination of these two and effectively the residents 
who pay their council tax would lose out by having to pay higher tax for a lower level of service. 
 
5. Analyse the reasons why people are going into arrears 
 
5.1 In this economic climate Welfare Reform changes have reduced the amount of disposable 
income for the people that have the lowest income. Recent increases in the cost of fuel means 
many people have to choose between paying the bills and feeding their family. 
 
5.2 Advice Plymouth, our local information and advice service has seen a changing scene of debt.  
During the period July to September 2013, 114 residents were seen with a total of £1.5million 
debt, comparing to 111 residents with a total debt of £0.5m July to September 2012.  
 
5.3 Records show that in the period July-September 2013 the most common type of debt issue 
was bankruptcy (15 per cent of people seeking advice services), followed by personal unsecured 
debt (12 per cent) and mortgage/rent arrears and store/credit card debt (both 10 per cent). The 
reason most often given for requiring support is dealing with unmanageable repayments.  
 
5.4 Some examples of the increase in the percentage levels of residents seeking advice services 
include- 
 

• Unsecured personal loan debts have risen from 5.6 per cent in 2012 to 10.2 per cent in 
2013; 

• Council Tax arrears which have risen from 0.23 per cent to 4.70 per cent; 
• Rent Arrears with Housing Associations which have risen from 0.0 per cent to 1.11 per 

cent. 
 
5.5 Due to the introduction of the council tax changes from April this year, locally 19,280 
residents now have a council tax liability for the first time. For this group of residents, between 
April and September 2013 14,408 reminders have been issued, 6224 summonses sent, and 3,798 
liability orders have been issued resulting in 2308 attachment to benefits and 54 attachments to 
earnings.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

COUNCIL TAX Page 5 of 5 

6. The Support And Advice That The Council Provides 
 
6.1 Plymouth City Council (PCC) has commissioned Advice Plymouth, a universally accessible 
information and advice service to serve the needs of its residents. The service combines the 
expertise of four advice agencies in the city – Plymouth Citizen’s Advice Bureau, Plymouth Age 
UK, Routeways Ltd and Disability Information and Advice Centre. Through this service residents 
can access professionals who will support them with financial issues face to face, online or on the 
telephone. 
 
6.2 Staff dealing with collection of Council Tax are trained to take a holistic view of the residents 
situation when dealing with a Council Tax Arrears situation. Staff are able to signpost residents to 
various support groups including Advice Plymouth, Plymouth Energy Community and provide 
information on our Hardship Funds. 
 
6.3 We hold several discretionary pots of money which can offer financial support to eligible 
residents. Our Emergency and Welfare Fund will meet financial needs in the case of a crisis or 
resettlement in the community. The Discretionary Housing Payment Fund supports those who 
cannot afford rent or removal costs. Our Council Tax Exceptional Hardship Fund can be accessed 
for those struggling to afford their council tax payments. Finally our Housing Options team can 
access a Homeless Prevention Fund.  Residents are assessed and directed to the relevant fund for 
their particular need. So far this year these schemes have assisted 1200+ residents.  
 
6.4 The Revenues and Benefits Department are currently planning to utilise the Council Tax 
Exceptional Hardship Fund to help residents having difficulty paying their council tax bills.  As take-
up has been low, Officers are encouraging applications from residents who face extreme hardship.  
For residents who claim Council Tax Support and a request for an Attachment to their Benefit has 
been returned by Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) as not possible these are likely to 
be vulnerable residents who are already experiencing high levels of deductions from their limited 
income.  Plans are to contact these residents and encourage an application.  Trials are currently 
being undertaken to consider whether phone contact or sending a form will get the better 
response from these residents. 
 
6.5 To help residents understand the changes following Welfare Reform the Council has produced 
a ‘Money Advice’ booklet giving details of all the changes specifically, Council Tax Benefit, the 
Social Fund, under-occupancy of social housing, the Benefit Cap and Universal Credits.  
 
6.6 As well as explaining the changes the booklet provides useful advice and information on where 
to get support, how to manage money and tips for finding employment.   
 
6.7 PCC works closely with our local Credit Unions in order to encourage residents to save and 
to access affordable borrowing.  More recently we have supported the opening of a shop in the 
City Centre (Frankfort Gate) for City of Plymouth Credit Union.  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

COOPERATIVE REVIEW 
Council Tax (Attachment of Earnings) 

15 November 2013 

Timetable/Witness Schedule
 
Introduction 
 
 

• Cabinet Member for Finance (Plymouth 
City Council) 

• Assistant Director for Finance, 
Efficiencies, Technology and Assets 

 

10am 

 
 

Review of Information 

 
  

• Cooperative Review Request Form 
• Cooperative Review Project Plan 
• Briefing Report 

 

 

Witnesses  
 
Jo Ryder Plymouth City Council 

 

10.30am 

Paul Dean Plymouth City Council 

 
Question Witnesses 
 

11.30am 

Review Evidence 
 

12.00pm 

Lunch 12.15pm  

 
Witnesses 
 
Steve Meakin Advice Plymouth 

 

1.15pm 

Sarah McNeice Advice Plymouth 

 
Question Witnesses 2.15pm 

 
Review Evidence 
 

2.45pm 

Break 3.00pm 
 

Summary and Review  
 

3.15pm 

 

Agenda Item 4ePage 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4b Cooperative Review Request Form
	4c Cooperative Review Project Plan
	4d Briefing Report
	4e Witnesses

